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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Vision

To be a leading world class preferred and trusted SACCO in the provision of unique, 

quality and highly efficient services to members.

Mission

To provide timely and convenient innovative, competitive, affordable as well as accessible 

products and services. 

Objectives

To promote the interest and welfare of members in accordance with co-operative 

principles and values.... 

Core Values

Ushuru Savings and Credit Co-operative Society Limited in its commitment to realise the 

vision and mission upholds the following core values:

Simplicity. We deliver quality services in a simple and friendly manner.

Proficient:  We exercise professionalism, competence and best practice in all we do.

Cohesive: We stick together as a team in realizing our co-operative agenda.

Ethical: We uphold integrity and honesty in all our affairs.
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SOCIETY PROFILE
Ushuru Savings and Credit Co-operative (Sacco) Limited was formed in 1970 by 
employees of Customs and Excise Department, Ministry of Finance at the time, under 
the name of Customs & Excise Workers (CUEW) Sacco. At inception, its membership 
was limited to employees of the Customs Department, although those who were 
transferred from Customs to other Government Departments were allowed to retain 
their membership. 

The Society later opened up its bonds and started admitting members from reputable 
companies other than the Kenya revenue Authority and government ministries. This 
enabled the Society to recruit more members and currently it boasts of more than 7,000 
members drawn from various companies.

The Sacco derives its mandate from the Co-operative Societies Act 2004 and its 
revised Act of 2012 and its By-laws. The affairs of the Sacco are directed by the Board 
of Directors (BOD) elected by delegates at the Annual Delegates Meeting (ADM) while 
the Supervisory Committee performs an oversight over the Board. The core function of 
the Sacco is to accumulate funds through members’ deposit and extend credit facility 
to its membership.

The Core function of the Sacco is savings and disbursement of loans. The Sacco offers 
various product through its back office, which include savings and credit facilities. At 
the back office, long and short term loan products are issued to members for property 
acquisition, development needs as well as education and emergency needs. The Sacco 
registered an Investment Co-operative in the year 2013 to offer members’ investment 
opportunities in real estate development. 

The Sacco has partnered with a number of service providers to provide value addition 
services like mobile banking through Msacco platform. Here members can access 
various services like loan application and members’ product balances. Additionally, the 
Sacco has a web portal where members can check for loan guarantee status, next of kin 
details and product balances. 

In order to maintain a balance between organizational goals and resources available, the 
Sacco acknowledges the importance of working with specific targets which is generally 
achieved through a strategic plan. The Society rolled out and embarked on implementing 
its 2nd strategic plan (2018-2022) in order to fast-track attainment of our goals.  The 
whole plan is anchored on four pillars namely; people (staff), processes, customers 
and financial pillar. Through the Strategic plan, the Sacco has embraced performance 
management to track and measure progress. We have further changed the Society’s 
logo, vision, mission statement and core values all in a bid to rebrand and reposition the 
Society in the SACCO Sector. 
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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT

Preamble

The Board of Directors is pleased to present the Annual Report and audited financial 
statement for the year ending 31st December 2020.

Economic review

The year 2020 presented the most challenging period for Kenyans in general with the 
economy worsening due to the impacts of Covid-19 pandemic which resulted to an 
increase in unemployment as a result of several businesses closing down with the overall 
inflation rate increasing slightly from 5.2 (2019) to 5.41 (2020). This was mainly driven by 
the high prices of food items due to destruction by excess rainfall in the first half of the 
year 2020 and supply disruption occasioned by Covid-19 pandemic. The average lending 
rates for commercial bank loans and advances declined to a historical low of 11.75 per 
cent in the third Quarter 2020 from 12.47 per cent during a similar period in 2019 due 
to reduction of Central Bank Rate (CBR) and improved liquidity conditions. The Kenyan 
currency weakened against the major international currencies resulting from the impact 
of Covid-19 pandemic.
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The Co-operative Sector Overview

Despite the challenges faced in the Country the Society’s loan uptake remained stable 
meaning that our competitiveness has not suffered any damage. However, the Society 
experienced a very high default rate in loans which could be attributed to the tough 
economic times experienced all over the country. The Society is however committed in 
ensuring that the recoveries are promptly and accurately done to mitigate against any 
major loss. The Society also experienced a very high withdrawal of membership which 
is attributable to many members hitting the retirement age under our main payroll at 
the same time, while the other members opted out as they could not afford credits. 
However, it is wakeup call for the SACCO sector to be more proactive by coming up 
with innovative ways of income generation if the competitive edge is to be maintained.

Performance overview

The Sacco has continued to witness a steady and sustainable growth in the past one 
year despite the challenges outlined above. Interest on loans and advances increased 
by 10% compared to the previous year. The SACCO recorded 14.1% increase in total 
assets with members’ deposit and loans growing by 10.1% and 6.1% respectively. Interest 
on members’ deposits proposed increased by 23.6% while there was no proposal for 
dividend pay-out for the current year. The Society also witnessed growth on core capital 
and institutional capital which grew by 22.6% and 37.4% respectively while share capital 
grew by 8%. Our loan delinquency grew by 11% and this is explained by the introduction 
of the regulator’s guidelines on classification.

Future Outlook

The Society continues to be focused towards attainment of our vision through 
commitment to deliver value to all our stakeholders: members, employees, regulators 
and the communities in which we work in. To this end the Society has invested in 
creating a simpler organization with clearer roles and responsibilities that will enable 
more collaboration to increase efficiency and strengthen all our relationships. In 
conclusion, I want to take this opportunity to extend special thanks to our members for 
your continued support as well as the Board of Directors, the supervisory committee, 
delegates and members of staff for helping us keep the promise to our members

Isaac Kiprop

National Chairman
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FIVE YEAR PERFOMANCE REVIEW

Year Year 2020 Year 2019 Year 2018 Year 2017 Year 2016

Membership 7152 6766.00 6392.00 5946.00 5390.00

Kshs. Kshs. Kshs. Kshs. Kshs.

Loan balances  3,275,732,047 3,040,625,964.00 2,896,863,973.00 2,679,302,095.00 2,433,531,912.00 

Members deposit 3,788,517,156 3,422,840,210.00  3,102,359,566.00   2,746,532,162.00 2,501,944,562.00 

Payout ratio 318,238,304 257,469,717.00     253,159,732.00 266,538,387.00 238,750,400.00 

Gross income 499,749,535 444,844,968.00 395,488,442.00 367,929,354.00 342,183,250.00 

Share capital  257,292,052 238,211,279.00     191,678,820.00      163,036,917.00 64,608,002.00 

Total assets 4,848,102,663 4,249,541,279.00  3,849,501,344.00   3,461,176,885.00 3,064,675,481.00 

Core Capital 580,239,552 473,408,044.00     463,859,357.00      421,086,142.00      310,377,216.00 

Institutional capital 322,947,500 235,196,765.00     272,180,537.00 258,049,225.00 245,769,214.00 

Capital adequacy

Core Capital/Total 
Assets

12 11.1 12.00 12.20 10.13

Core Capital/Total 
Deposit

15.3 13.8 15.00 15.30 12.41

Institutional Capital/
Total Assets

6.7 5.5 7.1 7.5 8.02

Liquidity Ratio 28 19 13.00 6.00 12.39

Growth Rate

Total Income 13 12.5 7.49 7.52 4.27

Total Assets 14 10.4 11.19 12.94 13.61

Members deposits 11 10.3 12.96 9.78 14.03

Loans to members 6 6.4 8.11 10.10 13.02

Share Capital 8 24.3 17.57 152.35 21.90

Other Disclosures

Interest on deposit 
rate

9.0 8.00 9.00 10.2 10.5

Dividend Rate - 10.00 12.00 12.00 11.00

Delinquent Loans 
Rate

1.65 0.97 0.14 0.04 0.04
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FIVE YEAR PERFOMANCE REVIEW
GRAPHICAL PRESENTATION
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STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the corporate governance practices of the 
Society. This report sets out the main practices in operation during the year under 
review, unless otherwise indicated. The Society is committed to business integrity and 
professionalism in all its activities.

Ushuru Sacco has recognized the importance of effective corporate governance 
structure and takes all necessary steps to implement policies, procedures and systems 
to ensure full compliance with the applicable statutes and regulations, the requirements 
of all regulatory bodies and international best practise.

Supreme Authority of the Sacco

Section 41 of the Society By-laws, provides that the supreme authority (of the Sacco) is 
vested in the annual delegates meeting (ADM) which is be constituted by the elected 
delegates. The delegates in turn elect amongst themselves a Board of Directors that is 
accountable to the members and other stakeholders through the ADM. The Delegates 
Meeting is presided over by the Chairman in his absence the Vice Chairman. All business 
at the General Meeting is recorded in a minute book whose final record and resolutions are 
signed by the Chairman and the Secretary of the Board. The members at the Delegates 
Meeting appoint external auditors each year from the list of three recommended names 
presented by the Board.

Governance structure

The key players in the corporate governance structure of Ushuru Sacco is as shown in 
the chart below.
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The Board of Directors, structure, powers and functions

The Board of Directors is the governing Authority of the Sacco and it consists of 
nine members who include the National Chairman, National Vice Chairman, Honorary 
Secretary and the National Treasurer. The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) is an Ex-officio 
member of the Board. The powers and functions allotted to the Board are stipulated 
in the Sacco Act, rules and By-laws of the Sacco. The Board meets every month to 
deliberate on management accounts and to discuss reports from each sub-committee 
besides dealing with any strategic issues and opportunities for the SACCO in the course 
of its business. 

The Society has laid solid foundations for the Directors and oversight of its operations 
and administration, including clear guidelines on who the Board comprises; well 
understood delineations on the roles of Chairman, Society’s Secretary and CEO; and 
clear proclamation of the Board’s priorities. The composition of the Board is determined 
in accordance with the Society’s By-law. 

Board appointment and induction

Election to the Board is through a vetting and nomination process handled by a nomination 
committee leading to the Annual delegates meeting where democratic elections are 
held to appoint the winning candidates to the Board. The nomination committee consist 
of a lawyer from the Society’s panel of lawyers, the Commissioner of Co-operatives or 
his representative, the Chief Executive Officer or his representative.  The committee vets 
all the nominees to ensure they meet all the set criteria for appointment as Directors.

The Board comprises Directors with an appropriate range of qualifications and 
experience. In accordance with the Board Election Policy, the Directors are rotated 
through the mechanisms contained in Society’s By-law, which require a third of Directors 
to retire in each year, with a three-year Rotation Period for each Director. Directors 
retiring by rotation may stand for re-appointment. This process is used to periodically 
review and recommend changes in the composition of the Board.

Once elected at the annual delegates meeting, the Directors go through an induction 
process where among other things they are taken through the Sacco policies, procedures 
and relevant regulations.

Supervisory Committee

The Supervisory Committee members are elected by and from the members of the 
Annual Delegates Meeting and it consist of three members. The members of the 
Committee retire on rotational basis. They are charged with safeguarding members fund 
by ensuring that proper policies are in place and the internal control system is adequate. 
No member of the Board of Directors may be elected to the Supervisory Committee. 

Board committees

In order to efficiently drive its corporate governance mandate, the Board constitute 
specific committees which work independent of each other reporting directly to the 
Board. The Committees purpose, composition, structures, duties, responsibilities and 
reporting lines are defined separately in the By-laws. The mentioned committees are as 
follows;
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1.	 Finance, Investment and Administration Committee	 -	 Chaired by Mr. Isaac Kiprop

2.	Credit Committee	 -	 Chaired by Mr. Boaz Chimasia

3.	Education, Strategy, Business Development	 -	 Chaired by Mr. Onesmus Nzuki

			   and Technology Committee

4.	Human Resource and Governance Committee	 -	 Chaired by Mr. Frank Robert

5.	Audit, Risk Management and Compliance Committee	-	 Chaired by Mr. Patrick Chelule

Finance, Investment and Administration Committee

This consists of the Chairman, Vice Chairman, Secretary and Treasurer. The Finance & 
Administration Committee assists the Board in its oversight of the integrity of the 
Society’s financial operations, long-term economic health, and allocation of resources. 
This is in addition to those duties as prescribed in the By-laws. 

Credit Committee

The credit committee is made up of three members drawn from the Board, none of the 
executive committee members can be part of the committee. The committee has the 
general responsibility of approving or disapproving all requests from members for loans. 
It is entitled to inquire carefully into the character and financial conditions of each loan 
applicant, and the guarantors, to ascertain ability of the applicant to repay the loan fully 
and promptly.

Human Resource and Governance Committee

The committee assists the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities with respect to hiring, 
evaluation, compensation and succession planning for officers and other employees. The 
committee consists of three Directors.

Education, Strategy, Business Development and Technology Committee

This committee consists of four members of the Board with the vice-chairman as the 
chair of the committee. This committee is responsible for organizing educational forums 
for members, educational tours, seminars and training to both members of the Board 
and staff. Additionally, they give advice to the on the business strategies as well as 
technological advancement to implemented in order for the Society to realize its goals.

Audit, Risk Management and Compliance Committee 

The Committee is responsible for providing the Board with advice and recommendations 
regarding the ongoing development of risk oversight and management policies that 
set out the roles and respective accountabilities of the Board, the Committee and 
management. It consists of not more than three members appointed from the Board, 
one of whom has to be conversant with financial and accounting matters. None of the 
members of Credit and Finance Committee should be part of the Audit Committee.

Board meetings and attendance

The full Board meets regularly, with at least twelve Monthly meetings a year, and serves 
a notice indicating a schedule of matters reserved for discussion. The Directors receive 
appropriate and timely reports to enable them to exercise full and effective control over 
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strategic, financial, operational, compliance and governance issues. A careful balance of 
formal and informal meetings throughout the year exists and there is an atmosphere of 
cordial relations. This creates an environment that encourages challenge, consultation, 
information sharing, innovative thinking and openness in communication. The Directors 
have full access to corporate information and sufficient detail to enable a productive 
and open discussion. There is diversity in the Board in terms of professional competence 
which ensures that the level of debate is both detailed and of a high technical standard. In 
the year 2020, we take note that Board meetings were held virtually in line with Ministry 
of Health guidelines with regards to Covid-19 pandemic and conduct of business. 

The table below is a summary of the meeting attendance record of the Board of Directors for 
the year 2020.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING ATTENDANCE

NAME ROLE WHEN APPOINTED WHEN RETIRED ATTENDANCE

Isaac Kiprop National Chairman Re-elected 25th March 2017 4th April 2020 11/12

Domnic Mokaya Hon. Secretary 7th April 2019 11/12

Onesmus Nzuki National Vice Chairman 7th April 2018 11/12

Samuel Wachiuri National Treasurer 7th April 2019 11/12

Oliver Sikuku Member 25th March 2017 4th April 2020 11/12

Emily Obonyo Member 25th March 2017 11/12

Patrick Chelule Member 25th March 2017 4th April 2020 11/12

Frank Robert Member 7th April 2018 11/12

Boaz Chimasia Member 7th April 2018 11/12
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The Chief Executive Officer

The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) is responsible for the leadership and management of 
the Society. The Board delegates the responsibility for the execution and administration 
of operations to the CEO, and this includes responsibility for implementing Society’s 
strategic direction and managing Society’s day-to-day operations. The scope, and 
specific limits, of the authority delegated to the CEO and the Management team are 
clearly documented. These delegations balance effective oversight with appropriate 
empowerment and accountability of management.

Procurement 

Procurement in the Sacco is guided by the procurement laws and best practice. The 
Sacco has a Procurement Committee independent of the Board to handle procurement 
matters in the Sacco and they also meet to open and evaluate tenders as part of 
the procurement process. The Committee draws its membership from the Heads of 
Departments except for the Internal Audit department who performs the oversight role. 

Conflicts of interest

Directors have a duty to not place themselves in a position which gives rise to a real or 
substantial possibility of conflict of interest or duty in relation to any matter which is or 
is likely to be brought before the Board. This entails not engaging, directly or indirectly, 
in any business that competes or conflicts with the Society’s business. All Directors are 
required to disclose any actual, potential or perceived conflicts of interest prior to their 
appointment and on an ongoing basis. Any potential or actual conflicts of interest are 
reported to the Honourable Secretary.

Internal controls 

The Management recognises its role to grow shareholder value while adhering to 
approved risk assessment procedures and limits. This is done by identifying risks that 
may inhibit the Society from achieving its objectives, analysing those risks, avoiding 
certain risks and implementing plans for mitigating risks that remain. 

The Board is committed to managing risk and to controlling its business and financial 
activities in a manner which enables it to maximise profitable business opportunities, 
manage and ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations and enhance 
resilience to external events. 

The effectiveness of the Society’s internal control system is reviewed regularly by the 
Board through a Management framework and the Internal Audit function. 

Internal Audit Function

The Internal Audit function monitors compliance with policies and standards and the 
effectiveness of internal control structures of the Society through its programme of 
audits. The work of the Internal Audit function is focused on the areas of greatest risk 
as determined by a risk-based assessment methodology. The Internal Audit function 
reports to the Board Audit Committee.

The Society’s business is conducted within a developed control framework, underpinned 
by policy statements, written procedures and control manuals. This ensures that there 
are written policies and procedures to identify and manage risk, including operational 
risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. The Board has established a management framework 
that clearly defines roles, responsibilities and reporting lines. Delegated authorities are 
documented and communicated.
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The performance of the Society’s businesses is reported to the management and the 
Board. Financial information is prepared using appropriate accounting policies, which 
are applied consistently. Operational procedures and controls have been established to 
facilitate complete, accurate and timely processing of transactions and the safeguarding 
of assets.

Information Technology/Automation 

The Sacco has upgraded the website to meet standards and expectations of the 
members and members can now access quick services via our website. Additionally, the 
Sacco embraced online loan guarantor ship during the year to easen the loan application 
processes especially for members who are at the Border Zones.

Cyber threats where criminals are constantly making use of information technology 
to perpetrate illegal acts, are increasing significantly. As a mitigation, the company 
has an efficient firewall and back up procedures in place and these have been fully 
tested. Members are encouraged to be vigilant and cautious on information sharing 
while accessing out platforms through the ICT infrastructure.  We continue to enhance 
the security infrastructure and measures to safeguard the Sacco from such risks on 
continuous basis. We are glad that the SACCO has not suffered any loss.

External Auditor

The role of the external auditor is to provide an independent opinion that the Society’s 
financial reports are true and fair, and comply with applicable regulations. Ushuru 
Sacco’s external auditor Mazars, who was engaged at the beginning of the year 2019. 
The Audit Committee is responsible for making recommendations to the Board on 
the selection, appointment, evaluation and removal of the Society’s external auditor. 
The external auditor must refuse to accept engagements involving non-audit services 
under which the auditor assumes the role of management, becomes an advocate for 
the Society, or offers services that could be reviewed as part of the audit. The external 
auditor attends the Society’s annual delegates meeting (ADM) and is available to answer 
delegates’ questions about the conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of 
the auditor’s report.

Code of Conduct

The Board recognizes the importance of being an inclusive employer and the value of 
a safe, fair and respectful workplace where there is no room for intolerance. Ushuru is 
a place where teamwork is valued and diversity is celebrated. The Board is committed 
to embracing diversity and creating an environment where everyone can reach their full 
potential across the Society. 

The Society has a Code of Conduct, relating to the lawful and ethical conduct of 
business which is supported by the Society’s core values. All Directors, management and 
employees are required to observe the Code of Conduct and are expected to observe 
high standards of integrity and fair dealing in relation to customers, staff and regulators.

Communication with members

The Board recognizes the importance of good communications with all members 
and on an annual basis, the Society organizes members’ education to accomplish 
this mandate. Other means of communication used by the Society includes; Circulars, 
notices, bulk sms, email, and Social media platform.
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Going concern

The Board confirms that it is satisfied that the Company has adequate resources to 
continue in business for the foreseeable future. For this reason, it continues to adopt the 
going concern basis when preparing the financial statements.

The Directors are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the financial 
statements of the Society which comprise the Statement of Financial Position, and the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement 
of Cash Flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory notes.

Employment equity 

The Society is committed to the creation of an organisation that supports the equality 
of all employees and is committed to the elimination of any form of discrimination in the 
work place. The Society has in place a comprehensive Human Resource policy which 
covers recruitment, staff development, retention and cultural diversity. The Society 
ensures that all employees are competent to perform their specific duties within a given 
time frame hence it facilitates Continuous Development Programme by sponsoring 
employees for annual trainings.

Remuneration Policy

The remuneration for the Directors consists of sitting allowance earned Monthly 
and paid quarterly, annual honoraria, travelling allowances for attending Board 
and committee meetings. Information and disclosures relating to the Directors 
remunerations and salary emoluments paid to key management staff are contained in 
the financial statements. The Society endeavours to review and approve competitive 
remuneration packages, which are designed to attract, retain and motivate staff.

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) has become one of the standard business 
practices of our time. For organizations, the overall aim is to achieve a positive impact on 
society while maximizing the creation of shared values for the owners of the business, 
its employees, shareholders and stakeholders. The Society has not been left behind on 
this trend and on annual basis, the society engages in social activities to accomplish 
this endeavour.  In the Financial Year 2020, the Society managed to carry out its CSR 
activity by planting trees at the Agricultural Society of Kenya grounds (Jamhuri Park).
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Society information

Board of directors : Mr. Isaac Kiprop -  National Chairman 

: Mr. Onesmus Nzuki -  National Vice Chairman 

: Mr. Domnic Mokaya -  National Hon. Secretary 

: Mr. Samuel Wachiuri -  National Treasurer 

: Mr. Oliver Sikuku -  Director 

: Ms. Emily Obonyo -  Director 

: Mr. Boaz Chimasia -  Director 

: Mr. Patrick Chelule -  Director 

Mr. Frank Robert  Director 

: Mr. William Pudha -  Chief Executive Officer 

Supervisory committee : Mr. William Ndiritu -  Chairman 

: Mr. Kevin Mburu -  Secretary 

: Mr. Christopher Ngilu -  Member 

Registered office : Ushuru Co-operative Savings and Credit Society Limited

Ushuru Sacco Centre

P.O. Box 52072, 00200 NAIROBI

Telephone: 020-7608700

Email: info@ushurusacco.com

Principal banker : Co-operative Bank of Kenya Limited

Ukulima House Branch

NAIROBI

Legal advisors : The panel of lawyers available at the head office

Independent auditor : MAZARS

Certified Public Accountants (K)

The Green House

3rd Floor, Suite 8

Adams Arcade along Ngong Road

P.O. Box 61120 (00200) NAIROBI

Tel : 254 020 3861175/76/79

Cell phone : 0722-440270/0734-440270

Email: contact@mazars.co.ke

Website: www.mazars.co.ke
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Report of directtors
The directors submit their annual report together with the audited financial statements 
for the year ended

31 December 2019 which show the society’s state of affairs.

Incorporation

The society is incorporated in Kenya under the Co-operative Societies Act, Cap. 490 
and is domiciled in

Kenya. 

Principal activity

The principal activity of the society continues to be receiving savings from and 
provision of loans to its

members.

Business review

The total interest income of the society increased from Shs. 392.1 million to Shs. 433.6 
million. The increase is directly attributed to growth in the loan book to members 
compared to prior year. Surplus before tax increased from Shs. 47.7 million to Shs. 82.9 
million compared to prior year. This is attributed to decrease in interest on member 
deposits and increased provision on loans.

As at 31 December 2020, the net asset position of the society was Shs. 615.4 million 
compared to Shs. 530.4 million as at 31 December 2019.

Principal risks and uncertainties

The overall business environment continues to remain challenging and this has a 
resultant effect on overall demand of the society’s products. The society’s strategic 
focus is to enhance revenue growth whilst maintaining growth margins, the success of 
which remains dependent on overall market conditions.

In addition to the business risks discussed above, the society’s activities expose it to a 
number of financial risks including credit risk, cash flow and foreign currency risk and 
liquidity risk as set-out in Note 20 of the financial statements.

Share capital

The issued and paid up share capital of the society was increased during the year from 
Shs. 238.2 million to Shs. 257.2 million.

Dividends and interest

The management committee recommends payments of first and final dividend of 
0% (2019: 10%) on weighted share balance. They also recommend 9% (2019: 8%) on 
weighted members deposit and 6% (2019: 7%) on weighted members special savings. 

Board of directors

The directors who held office during the year and to the date of this report are shown 
on page 1.
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Report of the directors (Continued)
Statement as to disclosure to the society’s auditor

With respect to each director at the time this report was approved:

(a)  	 there is, so far as the person is aware, no relevant audit information of which the 
society’s auditor is unaware; and 

(b) 	 the person has taken all the steps that the person ought to have taken as a director 
so as to be aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the 
society’s auditor is aware of that information. 

Terms of appointment of the auditor

The society’s auditor, Mazars, were appointed in office in accordance with the  Co-
operative Societies Act, Cap. 490. The directors monitor the effectiveness, objectivity and 
independence of the auditor. The directors also approve the annual audit engagement 
contract which sets out the terms of the auditor’s appointment and the related fees. 

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Signature……………………………… date……………………2021

Chairman
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Financial and statistical information
As at 31 December

Membership 2020 Numbers 2019 Numbers

At start of the year 6,766 6,392 

Members who joined within the year 519 883 

Withdrawals during the year  (133)  (509)

At end of the year 7,152 6,766 

Comprising: - Active 7,087 6,637 

- Dormant 65 129 

7,152 6,766 

Regional offices 4 4 

Number of employees 23 22

2020 Shs 2019 Shs

Financial

Total assets 4,848,102,663 4,249,541,279 

Members’ deposits 3,788,517,156 3,422,840,210 

Loans and advance to members 3,275,732,047 3,087,366,072 

Provision for loan losses 56,424,241 46,740,108 

Other financial assets 45,469,158 45,469,158 

Total revenue 499,749,535 444,844,968 

Total interest income from members 393,106,370 367,767,487 

Total expenses 425,704,817 402,395,068 

Investment shares 257,292,052 238,211,279 

Statutory reserve 68,578,437 53,769,493 

Appropriation account 187,164,117 114,152,726 

Core capital 580,239,552 473,338,444 

Institutional capital 322,947,500 235,127,165 

Key ratios: Statutory 2020 2019

% %

Capital adequacy ratios

Core capital/Total assets 10% 12.0% 11.1%

Core capital/Total deposits 8% 15.3% 13.8%

Institutional capital/Total assets 8% 6.7% 5.5%

Liquidity ratio

Liquid assets/Total deposits and short-term liabilities 12% 28% 19%

Operating efficiency/loan quality ratios

Total expenses/Total revenue 85% 90%

Interest to members deposits/Total revenue 64% 58%

Interest on members deposits 9% 8%

Interest rate on members’ savings 6.0% 7.0%

Dividend rate on members share capital 0% 10%

Total delinquent loans/Gross loan portfolio 1.65% 0.97%
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Statement of director’ responsibilities
The Co-operative Societies Act, Cap. 490 requires the directors to prepare financial 
statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs 
of the society as at the end of the financial year and of its surplus or deficit for that year. 
It also requires the directors to ensure that the society keeps proper accounting records 
that are sufficient to show and explain the transactions of the society; that disclose, 
with reasonable accuracy, the financial position of the society and that enable them to 
prepare financial statements of the society that comply with the International Financial 
‘Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Co-operative Societies Act, Cap. 490. 
The directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and for 
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

The directors accept responsibility for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards 
and in the manner required by the Co-operative Societies Act, Cap. 490. They also 
accept responsibility for:

i.	 Designing, implementing and maintaining such internal control as they determine 
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;

ii.	 Selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and

iii.	 Making accounting estimates and judgements that are reasonable in the 
circumstances.

The directors are of the opinion that the financial statements give a true and fair view of 
the financial position of the society as at 31 December 2019 and of the society’s financial 
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Co-operative Societies Act, 
Cap. 490.

In preparing these financial statements the directors have assessed the society’s ability 
to continue as a going concern as detailed in Note 1 to the financial statements. Nothing 
has come to the attention of the directors to indicate that the society will not remain a 
going concern for at least the next twelve months from the date of this statement.

The directors acknowledge that the independent audit of the financial statements does 
not relieve them of their responsibilities.

Approved by the board of directors on __________________ 2021 and signed on its 
behalf by:

____________________________ ISAAC KIPROP - CHAIRMAN

____________________________SAMUEL WACHIURI -TREASURER

____________________________DOMINIC MOKAYA   - SECRETARY
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR TO THE MEMBERS 
OF USHURU SAVINGS AND CREDIT CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY 
LIMITED
Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Ushuru Savings and Credit Co-operative 
Society Limited (the ‘society) set out on pages 15 to 46, which comprise the statement 
of financial position as at 31 December 2019, statement of comprehensive income, 
statement of changes in equity, statement of cash flows for the year then ended and the 
notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
society’s financial ‘position as at 31 December 2019, and of its financial performance and 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and the Co-operative Societies Act, Cap.490.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with international standards on Auditing. Our 
responsibilities under these standards have been further specified in the “Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our report. We 
believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most 
significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters 
were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and 
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these 
matters. 

Loan impairment provisions

The directors exercise significant judgement in classification of loans and advances to 
customers into the various credit grades/stage as described in note 1(b) and note 20 to 
the financial statements as well as the level of expected credit loss necessary for each 
grade/stage of loan which is based on the society’s past experience and reference to 
the regulatory guidelines and industry standards and relevant consideration of forward 
looking factors. Because of the significance of these judgements and the quantum of 
loans and advances, the audit of loan impairment provisions is a key audit matter. Further 
details of the loans and advances balances and impairment provisions are included in 
note 8 to the financial statements.

Our audit procedures included testing the model used by the directors in classifying 
loans and advances into their respective credit grades and stages of performance which 
included understanding the classification criteria and reviewing this for consistency with 
the society and industry experience.
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Loan impairment provisions (continued)

We tested a sample of loans and advances (including loans that had not been identified 
by management as impaired) to form our own assessment as to whether the loan 
classification and staging was reliable. For a sample of impaired loans we tested the 
extraction of data used in the models, the assessment of probability of default and 
the estimation of the future expected cash flows from the members based on historic 
experience including realisation of collateral held which primarily represented current 
deposits which we tested against records of member deposits which are key inputs into 
the loss given default assumption. 

Information technology control environment

The society is highly dependent on information systems and controls over access rights 
to such systems are critical and therefore represent a key audit matter.

We tested the design and implementation of the society’s controls around the information 
technology environment and operating effectiveness for controls that were critical to 
databases within the scope of our audit and the financial reporting process. Where 
our procedures identified deficiencies, we assessed the design and implementation of 
any controls that mitigated the identified risks and extended the scope of our tests of 
operating effectiveness of controls and/or substantive audit procedures.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises 
the report of the directors, statement of directors’ responsibilities and financial and 
statistical information which comprise the annual report but does not include the 
financial statements and the auditors report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do 
not and will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

Responsibilities of directors for the financial statements 

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give 
a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
and the requirements of the Co-operative Societies, Act Cap. 490 and for such internal 
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the 
society’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors 
either intend to liquidate the society or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative 
but to do so. Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the society’s 
financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We 
also: 

-	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

-	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the society’s internal control. 

-	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors. 

-	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the society’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

-	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied 
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with 
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.



USHURU SAVINGS AND CREDIT CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY LIMITED

Annual Report and Financial Statement for The Year Ended 31st December 2020 27

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine 
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements for 
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters 
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the 
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not 
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the 
Society of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the 
provisions of the Sacco Society’s Act.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is 
FCPA Charles Gathuto P/No 1231. 

MAZARS CPA(K)			  ___________________________2021



USHURU SAVINGS AND CREDIT CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY LIMITED

Annual Report and Financial Statement for The Year Ended 31st December 202028

Statement of Comprehensive Income
2020 2019

Notes Shs Shs

Revenue

Interest income:

Interest on loans and advances 2 (a)  393,106,370  367,767,487 

Other interest income 2 (b)  40,499,647  24,379,759 

Total interest income  433,606,017  392,147,246 

Interest expenses 2 (c) (318,238,304)  (257,469,717)

Net interest income  115,367,713  134,677,529 

Other operating income 2 (d)  66,143,518  52,697,722 

Impairment credit/(charge) on loan and 
advances

8  (9,684,133)  (42,640,144)

Governance expenses 23  (18,049,252)  (28,277,549)

Administrative expenses 24  (59,605,774)  (60,361,843)

Other operating expenses 25  (11,241,419)  (8,316,492)

Surplus before tax  82,930,653  47,779,223 

Income tax expense 5  (8,885,935)  (5,329,323)

Surplus for the year  74,044,718  42,449,900 

Other comprehensive income:

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently 
to surplus or deficit:

Change in fair value of other financial assets at 
fair value through other comprehensive income

3  -  3,187,372 

Fair value (Gain/loss) on investment property 10  (2,000,000)  624,372 

Surplus on revaluation of property and 
equipment

11  -  - 

Total comprehensive income  72,044,718  46,261,644 

Statutory reserve 20%  (14,808,944)  (8,489,980)

 57,235,774  37,771,664 

Honararia and staff bounus 26  (4,765,000)  (4,455,000)

Total comprehensive income after honoraria 
and bonus  52,470,774  33,316,664 

Dividend:

Proposed final dividend for the year  -  21,622,407 

The notes on pages 15 to 46 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Report of the independent auditor - pages 6 to 9.
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Statement of Financial Position
2020 2019

Notes Shs Shs

Assets

Cash and bank balances 6 1,058,030,691 638,425,740 

Receivables and prepayments 7 70,837,616 72,409,877 

Loans and advances to members 8 3,219,307,806 3,040,625,964 

Other financial assets 9 45,469,158 45,469,158 

Investment property 10 336,500,000 338,500,000 

Property and equipment 11 117,622,392 114,110,540 

Intangible assets 12 335,000  - 

Total assets 4,848,102,663 4,249,541,279 

Liabilities

Other payables 13 47,120,370 35,522,828 

Interest due 14 318,238,304 257,469,717 

Member deposits 15 a 3,788,517,156 3,422,840,210 

FOSA Savings 15 b 75,349,358  - 

Tax payable 4 3,399,411 3,229,161 

4,232,624,599 3,719,061,916 

Financed by:-

Share capital 16 257,292,052 238,211,279 

Statutory reserve 17 (i) 68,578,437 53,769,493 

Appropriation reserve 17 (ii) 187,164,117 114,152,726 

RMF reserve fund 17 (iii) 67,204,946 67,204,946 

Revaluation reserve 17 (iv) 1,874,487 2,154,487 

Fair value reserve 17 (v) 33,364,025 33,364,025 

Proposed dividend 17 (vi)  - 21,622,407 

615,478,064 530,479,363 

Total liabilities and capital 4,848,102,663 4,249,541,279 

 -  - 

The financial statements on pages 10 to 45 were approved and authorised for issue by 

the board of directors on__________________________2021 and were signed on its 

behalf by:

____________________________ ISAAC KIPROP - CHAIRMAN

____________________________SAMUEL WACHIURI -TREASURER

____________________________DOMINIC MOKAYA- SECRETARY
The notes on pages 15 to 46 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Report of the independent auditor - pages 6 to 9.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Notes 2020 2019 

Shs Shs

Cash from operating activities

Interest income 2(a) 393,106,370 367,767,487

Other interest income 2 (b) 40,499,647 24,379,759 

Other operating income 2 (d) 63,034,556 48,989,329 

Interest payments 14  (257,469,717)  (253,159,732)

Payment to employees and suppliers  (83,605,417)  (93,253,973)

Net cash from operating activities  155,565,439  94,722,870 

Cash (used in) loans and advances and other 
receivables

Advances to members 8  (2,181,742,724) (1,828,178,723)

Repayments 8 1,993,376,749 1,641,776,588 

Increase in receivables and prepayments 7  1,572,261  (16,525,165)

Cash from deposits and other payables

Deposits received 15  3,196,007,541  872,457,883 

Withdrawals 15 (2,754,981,237)  (551,977,239)

Increase in other payables 13  5,607,342  935,048 

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities before

income taxes  415,405,371  213,211,262 

Income tax paid  (8,715,685)  (2,883,371)

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities  406,689,686  210,327,891 

Investing activities

Purchase of property and equipment 11  (7,692,680)  (7,907,992)

Purchase of intangible assets 12  (500,000)  (152,000)

Purchase of investment property 10  -  (3,375,628)

Purchase of financial assets 9  -  - 

Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale  -  - 

Dividends received 2(d) 3,108,962  3,708,393 

Net cash (used in) investing activities  (5,083,718)  (7,727,227)

Financing activities

Proceeds from shares issue 16  19,080,773  46,532,459 

Dividend paid  (1,081,790)  (21,334,897)

Net cash from financing activities  17,998,983  25,197,562 

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalent  419,604,951  227,798,226 

Cash and cash equivalents at start of year  638,425,740  410,627,514 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 6  1,058,030,691  638,425,740 

The notes on pages 15 to 46 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Report of the independent auditor - pages 6 to 9.
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Notes to the financial statements 
1.	 Significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial 
statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the 
years presented, unless otherwise stated.

a)	 Basis of preparation

The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis in compliance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). They are presented in Kenya 
Shillings (Kshs), which is also the functional currency, rounded to the nearest shilling. 
The measurement basis used is the historical cost basis except where otherwise stated 
in the accounting policies below.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised 
into level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements 
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its 
entirety, which are described as follows:

-	 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date;

-	 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

-	 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Going concern

The financial performance of the society is set out in the director’s report and in the 
statement of comprehensive income. The financial position of the society is set out in 
the statement of financial position. Disclosures in respect of risk management are set 
out in note 20.

Based on the financial performance and position of the society and its risk management 
policies, the directors are of the opinion that the society is well placed to continue in 
business for the foreseeable future and as a result the financial statements are prepared 
on a going concern basis.

New and amended standards adopted by the society 

All new and revised standards and interpretations that have become effective for the 
first time in the financial year beginning 1 January 2018 have been adopted by the 
society. Of those, the following has had an effect on the society’s financial statements:

International Financial Reporting Standards 9 (IFRS 9): Financial Instruments

The society has adopted IFRS 9 as issued by the IASB in July 2014 with a date of transition 
of 1 January 2018, which resulted in changes in accounting policies and adjustments to 
the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The society did not early adopt IFRS 
9 in previous periods.

As permitted by IFRS 9, the company has elected to continue to apply the hedge 
accounting requirements of IAS 39.

As permitted by IFRS 9, the society has elected to continue to apply the hedge 
accounting requirements of IAS 39.
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1.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

a)	 Basis of preparation (continued)

International Financial Reporting Standards 9 (IFRS 9): Financial Instruments 
(continued)

Consequently, for notes and disclosures, the consequential amendments to IFRS 7 
disclosures have also only been applied to the current period. The comparative period 
notes and disclosures repeat those disclosures made in the prior year.

The adoption of IFRS 9 has resulted in changes in the accounting policies for recognition, 
classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities and impairment 
of financial assets. IFRS 9 also significantly amends other standards dealing with financial 
instruments such as IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’.

(iii) 	Significant and material impacts

-	 Total provision for impairment of loans and advances decreased by Shs.9,684,133 
from Shs.42,640,144 as at 31 December 2019 to Shs. 56,424,241 as at 31st December 
2020 as aresult of SASRA policy on grouping of loans and provisioning;

New standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not effective

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements the following standards and 
interpretations which have not been applied in these financial statements were in issue 
but not yet effective for the year presented:

- 	 Amendments to IAS 12 ‘Income Taxes’ effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2019 clarifying on the recognition of income tax consequences of 
dividends.

-	 Amendments to IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’ effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2019 clarifying the effects of a retirement benefit plan amendment, 
curtailment or settlement.

-	 Amendments to IAS 23 ‘Borrowing Costs’ effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2019 clarifying that specific borrowings remaining unpaid at 
the time the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale will comprise general 
borrowings.

-	 Amendments to IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2019 clarifying that the existence of prepayment features with 
negative compensation will not in itself cause the instrument to fail the amostised 
cost classification.

-	 IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ (issued in January 2017) effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2019, replaces IAS 17 ‘Leases’, IFRIC 4 ‘Determining whether an 
Arrangement Contains a Lease’ and their interpretations (SIC-15 and SIC-27). IFRS 16 
establishes principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure 
of leases, with the objective of ensuring that lessees and lessors provide relevant 
information that faithfully represents those transactions.

-	 IFRIC 23 ‘Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments’ (issued June 2017) effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 clarifies the accounting for 
uncertainties in income taxes.

The directors do not expect that adoption of the other standards and interpretations will 
have a material impact on the financial statements in future periods. The society plans to 
apply the changes above from their effective dates.
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1.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

b)	Critical accounting estimates and judgements

In the application of the accounting policies, the directors are required to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and other relevant factors. Such 
estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are 
recognised prospectively.

The directors have made the following assumptions that have a significant risk of 
resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial year. 

- 	Measurement of expected credit losses (ECL):

The measurement of the expected credit loss allowance for financial assets measured 
at amortised cost and FVTOCI is an area that requires the use of complex models and 
significant assumption about future economic conditions and credit behaviour.

A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the accounting 
requirements for measuring ECL, such as:

-	 Determining criteria for significant increase in credit risk;

-	 Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL;

-	 Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios for 
each type of product/market and associated ECL; and

-	 Establishing groups of similar financial assets for the purposes of measuring ECL

ECLs are measured as the probability-weighted present value of expected cash shortfalls 
over the remaining expected life of the financial instrument.

The measurement of ECLs are based primarily on the product of the instrument’s 
Probability of Default (PD), Loss Given Default (LGD), and Exposure At Default (EAD).

The ECL model contains a three-stage approach that is based on the change in the 
credit quality of assets since initial recognition.

-	 Stage 1 - If, at the reporting date, the credit risk of non-impaired financial instruments 
has not increased significantly since initial recognition, these financial instruments 
are classified in Stage 1, and a loss allowance that is measured, at each reporting 
date, at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses is recorded.

-	 Stage 2 - When there is a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, 
these non-impaired financial instruments are migrated to Stage 2, and a loss 
allowance that is measured, at each reporting date, at an amount equal to lifetime 
expected credit losses is recorded. In subsequent reporting periods, if the credit 
risk of the financial instrument improves such that there is no longer a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the ECL model requires reverting to 
recognition of 12-month expected credit losses.

-	 When one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future 
cash flows of a financial asset have occurred, the financial asset is considered credit-
impaired and is migrated to Stage 3, and an allowance equal to lifetime expected 
losses continues to be recorded or the financial asset is written off.
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1.	 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

c)	 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

- 	 Measurement of expected credit losses (ECL) (continued):

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk: The determination of a significant 
increase in credit risk takes into account many different factors including a comparison 
of a financial instruments credit risk or PD at the reporting date and the credit or PD 
at the date of initial recognition. IFRS 9 however includes rebuttable presumptions that 
contractual payments are overdue by more than 30 days will payments that are more 
than 90 days overdue will represent credit impairment (stage 3). The society uses these 
guidelines in determining the staging of its assets unless there is persuasive evidence 
available to rebut these presumptions.

-	  Fair value of other financial instruments

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the society uses market-observable 
data to the extent it is available. Where level 1 inputs are not available, the society makes 
use of financial models or engages third party qualified values to perform the valuation 
and provide inputs to the model.

The valuation of other financial instruments is described in more detail in Note 9.

-	 Useful lives of property and equipment and intangible assets

Management reviews the useful lives and residual values of the items of property and 
equipment on a regular basis. During the financial year, the directors determined no 
significant changes in the useful lives and residual values.

d)	Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the 
performance of services, in the ordinary course of business.

The society recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, 
it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the society and when the 
specific criteria have been met for each of the society’s activities as described below. 
The amount of revenue is not considered to be reliably measured until all contingencies 
relating to the sale have been resolved. The society bases its estimates on historical 
results, taking into consideration the type of customer, type of transaction and specifics 
of each arrangement.

Interest income and expense

Interest income is accrued by reference to time in relation to the principal outstanding 
using the effective interest rate applicable.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial 
asset or a financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over 
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, 
when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or 
financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the society estimates cash 
flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument but does not consider 
future credit losses. The calculation includes all fees and points paid or received between 
parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction 
costs and all other premiums or discounts.
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1.	 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

d)	Revenue recognition (continued) 

Fee and commission income

Fees and commission income, including account servicing fees and mobile banking 
commisions are generally recognised on an accrual basis when the service has been 
provided.

Other income

i)	 Entrance fee is recognised when a new member joins the society.

ii)	 Dividend is recognised when the right to recieve income is established. Dividend 
are reflected as a component of other operating income based on the underlying 
classification of the equity instrument.

iii)	 Rental income is accrued by reference to time on a straight line basis over the lease 
term.

iv)	 Interest income is accrued by reference to time in relation to the principal outstanding 
and the effective interest rate applicable.

e)	Property and equipment 

All property and equipment is initially recorded at cost and thereafter stated at historical 
cost less depreciation except as stated below. Historical cost comprises expenditure 
initially incurred to ‘bring the asset to its location and condition ready for its intended 
use.

Land and buildings and motor vehicles are subsequently shown at market value, based 
on periodic ‘valuations less subsequent depreciation. 

Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amounts do 
not differ materially from those that would be determined using fair values at the end of 
each reporting period.

Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross 
carrying amount of the asset, and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of 
the asset.

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation are credited to other 
comprehensive ‘income except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease for 
the same asset previously recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, in 
which case the increase is credited to the statement of comprehensive income to the 
extent of the decrease previously expensed.

Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset are charged to other 
comprehensive income; all other decreases are charged to the statement of comprehensive 
income. Each year the difference between depreciation based on the revalued carrying 
amount of the asset (the depreciation charged to statement of comprehensive income) 
and depreciation based on the asset’s original cost is transferred from the retained 
earnings to revaluation reserve.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate 
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated 
with the item will flow to the society and the cost can be reliably measured. The carrying 
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. 
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1.	 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

e)	Property and equipment (continued) 

All other repairs and maintenance are charged to statement of comprehensive income 
during the financial year in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method to write down the cost of each 
asset to its residual value or the revalued amount, to its residual value over its estimated 
useful life using the following annual rates:

Rate (%)

Land and building Nil

Motor vehicle 25

Computers and accessories 33.3

Equipment, furniture and fittings 12.5

The assets’ residual values and lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate at each 
balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the 
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains or losses on disposal of property and equipment are determined by reference to 

their carrying amount and are taken into account in determining operating surplus.

f)	 Investment property

Investment property is long-term investments in land and buildings that are not 
occupied substantially for own use. Investment property is initially recognised at cost 
and subsequently carried at fair value representing open market value at the reporting 
date Changes in fair value are recorded in statement of comprehensive income.

Subsequent expenditure on investment property where such expenditure increases 
the future economic value in excess of the original assessed standard of performance 
is added to the carrying amount of the investment property. All other expenditure is 
recognised as an expense in the year which it is incurred.

Gains and losses on disposal of investment property is determined by reference to their 
carrying amount and are taken into account in determining operating surplus.

g) 	Intangible assets - computer software

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost 
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is 
recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful 
life and amortisation and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective 
basis. 

Accounting software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire 
and bring to use the specific software. These costs are amortised on a straightline basis 
at the rate of 33.33% per annum.
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1.	 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

h)	 Impairment of non-financial assets and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, Society reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible 
and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets 
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount 
of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). 

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair 
value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets 
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows 
(cash-generating units). 

i)	 Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the society becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Management determines all classification 
of financial instruments at initial recognition.

Financial assets

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial 
assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets carried at fair 
value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value and transaction costs are 
expensed in profit or loss.

The society’s financial assets fall into the following categories:

Amortised cost: Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows 
where those cash flows represent Solely Payments of Principal and Interest (SPPI), and 
that are not designated at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss (FVTPL), are measured at 
amortised cost. The carrying amount of these assets is adjusted by any expected credit 
loss allowance recognised and measured. Interest income from these financial assets is 
included in ‘interest and similar income’ using the effective interest rate method.

Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income (FVTOCI): Financial assets that are 
held for collection of contractual cash flows where these cash flows comprise SPPI and 
also for liquidating the assets depending on liquidity needs and that are not designated 
at FVTPL, are measured at FVTOCI.

Movements in the carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for recognition of 
impairment gain or losses, interest revenue and foreign exchange gain and losses. Gains 
and losses previously recognised in OCI are reclassified from equity to profit or loss on 
disposal of such instruments. Gains and losses related to equity instruments are not 
reclassified.

Fair Value Through Profit or Loss (FVTPL): Financial assets that do not meet the 
criteria for amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL. A gain or loss on a debt 
investment that is subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss and is not 
part of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss.

For the purpose of SPPI the test, principal is the fair value of the financial asset at initial 
recognition That principal amount may change over the life of the financial asset (e.g. if 
there are repayments of principal). 
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1.	 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

i)	 Financial instruments (continued)

Interest consists of consideration for the time value of money, for the credit risk 
associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and 
for other basic lending risks and costs, as well as a profit margin. The SPPI assessment is 
made in the currency in which the financial asset is denominated.

Contractual cash flows that are SPPI are consistent with a basic lending arrangement. 
Contractual terms that introduce exposure to risks or volatility in the contractual cash 
flows that are unrelated to a basic lending arrangement will not comprise SPPI.

An assessment of business models for managing financial assets is fundamental to the 
classification of a financial asset. The society determines the business models at a level 
that reflects how societies financial assets are managed together to achieve a particular 
business objective. The society’s business model does not depend on management’s 
intentions for an individual instrument, therefore the business model assessment is 
performed at a higher level of aggregation rather than on an instrument-by-instrument 
basis.

The society has more than one business model for managing its financial instruments 
which reflect how the society manages its financial assets in order to generate cash 
flows. The society’s business models determine whether cash flows will result from 
collecting contractual cash flows, selling financial assets or both.

The society considers all relevant information available when making the business model 
assessment.

However, this assessment is not performed on the basis of scenarios that the society 
does not reasonably expect to occur, such as so-called ‘worst case’ or ‘stress case’ 
scenarios. The society takes into account all relevant evidence available such as:

-	 how the performance of the business model and the financial assets held within that 
business model are evaluated and reported to the entity’s key management personnel;

-	 the risks that  affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets 
held within that business model) and, in particular, the way in which those risks are 
managed; and how managers of the business are compensated (e.g. whether the 
compensation is based on the fair

-	 value of the assets managed or on the contractual cash  flows collected).

At initial recognition of a financial asset, the society determines whether newly 
recognised financial assets are part of an existing business model or whether they reflect 
the commencement of a new business model. The society reassess its business models 
each reporting period to determine whether the business models have changed since 
the preceding period. For the current and prior reporting period the society has not 
identified a change in its business models.

When a debt instrument measured at FVTOCI is derecognised, the cumulative gain/
loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss. In contrast, 
for an equity investment designated as measured at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain/
loss previously recognised in OCI is not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss but 
transferred within equity.

Financial instruments that  are subsequently measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI 
are subject to impairment. 
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i)	 Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment

The society recognises loss allowances for ECLs on the following financial instruments 
that are not measured at FVTPL:

-	 Cash and cash equivalents

-	 Loans and advances

-	 Other financial assets

No impairment loss is recognised on investments measured at FVTPL.

ECLs are required to be measured through a loss allowance at an amount equal to:

-	 12-month expected credit loss (ECL), i.e. lifetime ECL that result from those default 
events on the financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the 
reporting date, (referred to as Stage 1); or

-	 full lifetime ECL, i.e. lifetime ECL that  result from all possible default events over the 
life of the financial instrument. (referred to as Stage 2 and Stage 3).

A loss allowance for full lifetime ECL is required for a financial instrument if the credit risk 
on that financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition. For all 
other financial instruments, ECLs are measured at an amount equal to the12-month ECL. 
More details on the determination of a significant increase in credit risk are provided in 
note 21.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of the present value of credit losses. These 
are measured as the present value of the difference between the cash flows due  to the 
society under the contract and the cash flows that the society expects to receive arising 
from the weighting of multiple future economic scenarios, discounted at the asset’s EIR.

For undrawn loan commitments, the ECL is the difference between the present value 
of the difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to the society if the 
holder of the commitment draws down the loan and the cash flows that the society 
expects to receive if the loan is drawn down.

For financial guarantee contracts, the ECL is the difference between the expected 
payments to reimburse the holder of the guaranteed debt instrument less any amounts 
that the society expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or any other party.

The society measures ECL on an individual basis, or on a collective basis for portfolios 
of loans that share similar economic risk characteristics. The measurement of the loss 
allowance is based on the present value of the asset’s expected cash flows using the 
asset’s original effective interest rate (EIR), regardless of whether it is measured on an 
individual basis or a collective basis.
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i)	 Financial instruments (continued)

More information on measurement of ECLs is provided in note 20 (b), including details 
on how instruments are grouped when they are assessed on a collective basis.

A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental 
impact on the estimated future cash  flows of the financial asset have occurred. Credit-
impaired financial assets are referred to as Stage 3 assets. Evidence of credit-impairment 
includes observable data about the following events:

-	 contractual payments that are more than 90 days overdue;

-	 significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

-	 a breach of contract such as a default or past due event;

-	 the lender of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the 
borrower’s

-	 financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession that  the lender 
would not otherwise consider;

-	 the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties; 
or

-	 the purchase of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit 
losses.

It may not be possible to identify a single discrete event, instead, the combined effect of 
several events may have caused financial assets to become credit-impaired. The society 
assesses whether all new and revised standards and interpretations that have become 
effective for the first time credit-impaired at each reporting date. To assess if sovereign 
and corporate debt instruments are credit impaired, the society considers factors such 
as bond yields, credit ratings and the ability of the borrower to raise funding .

Modification and derecognition of financial assets

A modification of a financial asset occurs when the contractual terms governing the 
cash flows of a financial asset are renegotiated or otherwise modified between initial 
recognition and maturity of the financial asset. A modification affects the amount and/
or timing of the contractual cash flows either immediately or at a future date. In addition, 
the introduction or adjustment of existing covenants of an existing loan would constitute 
a modification even if these new or adjusted covenants do not yet affect the cash flows 
immediately but may affect the cash flows depending on whether the covenant is or is 
not met (e.g. a change to the increase in the interest rate that arises when covenants 
are breached).

The society renegotiates loans to customers in financial difficulty to maximise collection 
and minimise the risk of default. A loan forbearance is granted in cases where although 
the borrower made all reasonable efforts to pay under the original contractual terms, 
there is a high risk of default or default has already happened and the borrower is 
expected to be able to meet the revised terms. The revised terms in most of the cases 
include an extension of the maturity of the loan, changes to the timing of the cash flows 
of the loan (principal and interest repayment), reduction in the amount of cash flows due 
(principal and interest forgiveness) and amendments to covenants. The society has an 
established forbearance policy which applies for corporate and retail lending.
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i)	 Financial instruments (continued) 

When a financial asset is modified, the society assesses whether this modification 
results in derecognition. In accordance with the society’s policy a modification results 
in derecognition when it gives rise to substantially different terms. To determine if the 
modified terms are substantially different from the original contractual terms the society 
considers the following:

-	 Qualitative factors, such as contractual cash flows after modification are no longer 
SPPI, change in currency or change of counterparty, the extent of change in interest 
rates, maturity, covenants. If these do not clearly indicate a substantial modification, 
then;

-	 A quantitative assessment is performed to compare the present value of the remaining 
contractual cash flows under the original terms with the contractual cash flows under 
the revised terms, both amounts discounted at the original effective interest.

If the difference in present value is greater than 10% the society deems the arrangement 
is substantially different leading to derecognition.

In the case where the financial asset is derecognised, the loss allowance for ECL is 
remeasured at the date of derecognition to determine the net carrying amount of the 
asset at that date. The difference between this revised carrying amount and the fair value 
of the new financial asset with the new terms will lead to a gain or loss on derecognition. 
The new financial asset will have a loss allowance measured based on 12-month ECL 
except in the rare occasions where the new loan is considered to be originated - credit 
impaired. This applies only in the case where the fair value of the new loan is recognised 
at a significant discount to its revised par amount because there remains a high risk of 
default which has not been reduced by the modification. The society monitors credit risk 
of modified financial assets by evaluating qualitative and quantitative information, such 
as if the borrower is in past due status under the new terms.

When the contractual terms of a financial asset are modified and the modification does 
not result in derecognition, the society determines if the financial asset’s credit risk has 
increased significantly since initial recognition by comparing:

-	 the remaining lifetime PD estimated based on data at initial recognition and the 
original contractual terms; with

-	 the remaining lifetime PD at the reporting date based on the modified terms.

Where a modification does not lead to derecognition the society calculates the 
modification gain/loss comparing the gross carrying amount before and after the 
modification (excluding the ECL allowance). Then the society measures ECL for the 
modified asset, where the expected cash flows arising from the modified financial asset 
are included in calculating the expected cash shortfalls from the original asset.

The society derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the 
asset’s cash flows expire (including expiry arising from a modification with substantially 
different terms), or when the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset are transferred to another entity. If the society neither transfers 
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control 
the transferred asset, the society recognises its retained interest in the asset and an 
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. 
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i)	 Financial instruments (continued) 

If the society retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred 
financial asset, the society continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises 
a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable and the 
cumulative gain/loss that had been recognised in OCI and accumulated in equity 
is recognised in profit or loss, with the exception of equity investment designated as 
measured at FVTOCI, where the cumulative gain/loss previously recognised in OCI is not 
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety (e.g. when the society 
retains an option to repurchase part of a transferred asset), the society allocates the 
previous carrying amount of the financial asset between the part  it continues to 
recognise under continuing involvement, and the part it no longer recognises on the 
basis of the relative fair values of those parts on the date of the transfer.

The difference between the carrying amount allocated to the part that is no longer 
recognised and the sum of the consideration received for the part no longer recognised 
and any cumulative gain/loss allocated to it that had  been recognised in OCI is 
recognised in profit or loss. A cumulative gain/loss that  had  been recognised in OCI 
is allocated between the part  that continues to be recognised and the part that is 
no longer recognised on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts. This does 
not apply for equity investments designated as measured at FVTOCI, as the cumulative 
gain/loss previously recognised in OCI is not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.

Write‑off

Loans and  debt securities are written off when the society has no reasonable 
expectations of recovering the financial asset (either in its entirety or a portion of it). 
This is the case when the society determines that the borrower does not have assets 
or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts 
subject to the write-off. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.The society may 
apply enforcement activities to financial assets written off. Recoveries resulting from the 
society’s enforcement activities will result in impairment gains.

Gains and losses on disposal of assets whose changes in fair value were initially 
recognised in profit or loss are determined by reference to their carrying amount and 
are taken into account in determining Profit before tax. On disposal of assets whose 
changes in fair value were initially recognised in equity, the gains/losses are recycled 
to the statement of profit or loss. Any resultant surplus/deficit after the transfer of the 
gains/losses are transferred to retained earnings.

Management classifies financial assets as follows:

unquoted shares are classified as ‘Change in fair value of other financial assets at fair 
value through other comprehensive income’ financial instruments. The fair values of 
quoted investments are based on current bid prices at the reporting date. Where fair 
values cannot be reliably measured (unquoted investments), the society establishes fair 
value by using valuation techniques or carries these investments at cost less provision 
for impairment.

Cash in hand and balances with financial institutions, loan and advances and other 
receivables are carried at amortised cost.
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i)	 Financial instruments (continued) 

Financial liabilities

The society’s financial liabilities which include other payables, interest due and members 
deposits fall into the following categories:

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost: These include other payables, interest 
due, members deposits and other creditors and accruals. These are initially measured 
at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest 
rate method.

Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption 
value is recognised ‘as interest expense in profit or loss under finance costs under the 
effective interest rate method.

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred and 
are subsequently stated at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of 
transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised as interest expense in profit 
or loss under finance costs.

Fees associated with the acquisition of borrowing facilities are recognised as transaction 
costs of the borrowing to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facilities 
will be acquired. In this case the fees are deferred until the drawn down occurs. If it is 
not probable that some or all of the facilities will be acquired the fees are accounted for 
as prepayments under trade and other receivables and amortised over the period of the 
facility.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the year in which they are 
incurred.

All financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities unless the society has an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the 
reporting date.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when, and only when, the society’s obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or expired.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement 
of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the amounts and 
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.

j)  Accounting for leases

The society as lessee 

Leases of assets under which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership 
are effectively retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made 
under operating leases are charged to the statement of comprehensive income on a 
straight line basis over the period of the lease.
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j)  Accounting for leases (continued) 

The society as lessor

Assets leased to third parties under operating leases are included under investment 
property the statement of financial position.

Gains and losses on disposal of leased assets are determined by reference to their 
carrying amount and are taken into account in determining operating surplus. 

k)	 Taxation

Current tax is provided on the basis of the results for the year, as shown in the financial 
statements, adjusted in accordance with tax legislation applicable to the society.

In particular under section 19A (4) of the Income Tax Act, the society being a designated 
society that carries on business as a Credit and Savings Co-operative Society, income 
tax only arises on interest income from non-members and any other income not arising 
from activities relating to advance or deposit from members.

Deferred tax  

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method for all temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying values for financial 
reporting purposes. Currently enacted tax rates are used to determine deferred tax. 
Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profits will be available against which temporary timing differences can be 
utilised.

l)	 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits and other 
short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of 
cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

m)	Investment shares

Member interest are classified as equity where the entity has an unconditional right to 
refuse redemption of the members’ shares.  

Provisions in the Act, regulations or the Sacco by-laws impose unconditional prohibitions 
on the redemption of members’ shares. 

n)	Reserves

-	 Statutory reserve

Transfers are made to the statutory reserve fund at a rate of 20% of net operating surplus 
after tax in compliance with the provision of section 47 (1 and 2) of the Co-operative 
Societies Act, Cap 490. This reserve is not distributable.

-	 Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve arises on revaluation of other financial assets measured at fair 
value through other comprehensive income. Where a revalued financial asset is sold, the 
portion of the reserve that relates to that financial asset, and is effectively realised, is 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. Where a revalue financial asset 
is impaired, the portion of the reserve that relates to that financial asset is recognised in 
the statement of comprehensive income.
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n)	Reserves (continued) 

Gains and losses transferred from equity into statement of comprehensive income 
during the period are included in other gains and losses. The amounts in this reserve is 
not distributable.

-	 Appropriation reserve

This comprises retained earnings and is distributable.

-	 Revaluation reserve

This comprises surplus on revaluation of property and equipment and is not distributable.

-	 RMF reserve fund

Members make contributions to the society to cater for insurance cover over deceased 
member loan balances and funeral expense benefits. The cover for the current financial 
year is provided by CIC. contribution to this fund is currently set at Shs. 300 per member 
per month. The excess of members contributions over premium payments is recorded 
under RMF reserve fund.

The carrying amount at the end of the period is recognised in the statement of changes 
in equity and the surplus is available for distribution to members.

-	 Dividends account

Dividend is recognised as a liability by transferring funds from retained earnings to 
dividend account. Proposed dividends are disclosed as a separate component of equity. 
This reserve is distributable.

o)	Comparatives

Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in 
‘presentation in the current year.
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2020 2019

2. Revenue  Shs Shs

a) Interest income 

Interest on loans and advances to members

BOSA  391,482,981 367,767,487 

FOSA  1,623,389  -   

Total interest income 393,106,370  367,767,487 

b) Other interest income

Interest on Saving reserve account  7,811,124  10,199,858 

Interest on Call Deposit  256,165  - 

Interest on fixed deposit account  6,591,233  - 

Interest on investment-UIC  -  4,270,638 

Interest on term deposits  25,841,125  9,909,263 

 40,499,647  24,379,759 

Total interest income 433,606,017  392,147,246 

c) Interest expenses

Interest on members deposits 307,480,908  246,082,370 

Interest on special savings  10,757,396  11,387,347 

Total interest expense  318,238,304  257,469,717 

Net interest income  115,367,713  134,677,529 

d) Other operating income

Rental income  4,245,000  1,488,000 

Loan clearance commission  34,019,982  27,072,530 

Bankers cheque commission  1,322  600 

Dividends  3,108,962  3,708,393 

Encashment commission  2,299  13,503 

Entrance fee  481,300  903,792 

FOSA commision and fees  3,010,400  - 

Income from RMF (Note 21)  17,164,559  16,721,097 

Miscellaneous income  4,109,694  2,789,807 

Total other operating income  66,143,518  52,697,722 

3. Fair value (loss)/gain on available for sale financial assets

(Loss)/gain on valuation of financial assets during the year comprise the 
following:

Co-op holdings Co-operative Society Limited shares  -  3,187,372 
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4. Tax payable/recoverable 2020 2019

Shs Shs

Balance brought forward  3,229,161  783,209 

Add: tax charge for the year  8,885,935  5,329,323 

Tax credit adjustment  -  - 

Less: withholding tax paid  -  - 

Less: 2019 Instalment tax paid  (8,715,685)  (2,883,371)

Tax due/recoverable  3,399,411  3,229,161 

5. Tax

Current tax  8,885,935  5,329,323 

 8,885,935  5,329,323 

The tax on the society’s operating surplus before 
tax differs from the theoretical amount that would 
arise using the basic tax rate as follows:

Reconciliation of the expense

Surplust before tax  82,930,653  47,779,223 

Tax calculated at a tax rate of 30% (2020: 30%)  24,879,196  14,333,767 

Tax effects of:

- expenses not deductible for tax purposes  125,045,665  119,119,724 

- income not subject to tax (141,038,925  (128,124,167)

Tax charge 8,885,935  5,329,324 

6. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

comprise:-

Cash in hand  61,623,540  22,529,089 

Cash at bank  129,374,862  136,087,546 

Short term bank deposits  867,032,289  479,809,105 

Total 1,058,030,691  638,425,740 

The weighted average effective interest rate on short-term bank deposits at year-end 
was 10.45% (2019:10.45%).

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents  comprise 
cash in hand, deposit held at call with banks and investment in the money market 
instruments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to 
an insignificant risk of changes in value.

The society main account recorded an increased cash balance, this is attributed to the 
fact our main payroll submitted the cash before year end thereby boosting our cash 
inflow and reducing the amount receivable from employers.

For the purpose of the statement cash flows, the year end cash and cash equivalents 
comprise the above: The carrying amounts of the society’s cash and cash equivalents 
are denominated in Kenya
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2020 2019

7. Receivables and prepayments Shs Shs 

Receivables  6,981,323  14,608,817 

Insurance premium prepaid  4,113,732  3,922,255 

Prepayments  4,190,799  2,613,593 

Deceased loans due from insurance  10,191,893  5,905,343 

Loan disbursement control  405,789  405,789 

Due from related party (Note 18)  44,954,080  44,954,080 

 70,837,616  72,409,877 

Ageing of receivables

0 - 30 days  25,477,747  27,050,008 

over 30 days  45,359,869  45,359,869 

Total  70,837,616  72,409,877 

Receivables comprise the monthly deductions from members’ salaries remitted 
through check off

Due from related party represents an advance to Ushuru Investment Co-operative 
(UIC) to cater for the interest of the Society members in acquisition and development 
of plots of land. The Society has put in place a repayment plan commencing in the year 
2021 as summarised below.

Year Principal amount Interest Opportunity cost Total

2021 9,000,000 5,394,490 3,236,693 17,631,183 

2022 9,000,000 4,194,490 3,236,693 16,431,183 

2023 9,000,000 3,234,890 3,236,693 15,471,583 

2024 9,000,000 2,154,490 3,236,693 14,391,183 

2025 8,954,080 1,074,490 3,236,693 13,265,263 

44,954,080 16,052,850 16,183,465 77,190,395 

In the opinion of the directors, the carrying amounts of receivables and prepayment 
approximate to their fair value. The directors are of the opinion that the society’s 
exposure is limited because the debt is widely held. 

The carrying amounts of the society’s receivables are denominated in Kenya Shillings 
(Shs.)

8. Loans and advances 2020 2019

Shs Shs 

At start of year 3,087,366,072 2,900,963,937 

Granted during the year 2,181,742,724 1,828,178,723 

Repaid during the year  (1,993,376,749)  (1,641,776,588)

3,275,732,047 3,087,366,072 

Provision for loan losses  (56,424,241)  (46,740,108)

At year end  3,219,307,806  3,040,625,964 
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Ageing of past due loans  Amount %ge Accounts Required provision

Perfoming  3,212,803,293 1% 6370  32,128,033 

Past due - 30 days  27,371,403 5% 131  1,368,570 

Past due - up to 180 days  11,782,145 25% 119  2,945,536 

Past due - up to 360 days  7,586,208 50% 28  3,793,104 

Past due - Over to 360 days  16,188,998 100% 22  16,188,998 

 3,275,732,047 6670  56,424,241 

The Sacco Society Regulatory Authority (SASRA) require the society to make provisions 
for doubtful and bad loans, The provisioning movement is after considering the collaterals 
and subsequent recoveries. The Society is in compliance with provisioning requirements 
as per note 8 above. All loans are fully secured either within Group / Member deposits 
or with valid collateral.

Movement in provisions for impairment of loans 2020 2019

Shs Shs 

At start of year  46,740,108  4,099,964 

-IFRS 9 transition adjusment  -  - 

At start of year - as restated  46,740,108  4,099,964 

Loans write off  -  - 

Expected credit loss provision  9,684,133  42,640,144 

At end of year  56,424,241  46,740,108 

Insiders are deemed to be employees, members of supervisory committees and directors 
of the society. The following loans were granted to insiders: 

2020 2019

Shs Shs

Total loans outstanding at end of year:

88,205,719 68,809,602 

Loans to directors 19,070,986 16,165,958 

Loans to branch officials 22,967,521 19,509,983 

Loans to supervisory committee members 1,469,719 1,880,027 

Loans to other employees 44,697,493 31,253,634 

88,205,719 68,809,602 



USHURU SAVINGS AND CREDIT CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY LIMITED

Annual Report and Financial Statement for The Year Ended 31st December 202052

Significant accounting policies (continued)

9.  Other financial assets 2020 2019

Other financial assets comprise the following: Shs Shs

At start of year 45,469,158 42,281,786 

Additions  -  - 

Fair value gain/(loss)  -  3,187,372 

45,469,158 45,469,158 

Fair value through other comprehensive income

Co-opholdings Co-operative Society Limited 3,355,128 shares 
@9.50

31,873,716 31,873,716 

KUSCCO ordinary 101,800 shares @100 10,180,002 10,180,002 

Co-operative Insurance Society Limited 975,840 shares 
@3.50 3,415,440 3,415,440 

Total other financial assets 45,469,158 45,469,158 

Income from other financial assets at fair value through 
other comprehensive (Note 2d) 3,108,962 3,708,393 

The fair values of other financial assets are categorised as follows:

Level 2: where fair values are based on adjusted quoted prices and observable prices of 
similar financial assets.

Level 3: where fair values are not based on observable market data.

Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Year ended 31 December 2020 Shs Shs Shs

Fair value through other comprehensive income 35,289,156 10,180,002 45,469,158 

Year ended 31 December 2019

Fair value through other comprehensive income 35,289,156 10,180,002 45,469,158 

Credit risk primarily arises from the changes in the market value and the financial stability 
of the respective quoted companies.

Management monitors the credit quality of financial assets by:

-	 discussion at the management and board meetings;

-	 reference to external historical information available;

-	 discussions with the society’s investment advisors;

The maximum exposure to credit risk as at reporting date is the carrying value of the 
financial assets as disclosed above.

None of the other financial assets are considered to be impaired and are dominated in 
Kenya shillings (Shs.).
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

10.	 Investment property 

Land Saachi 
Plaza

 Ushuru 
Sacco 
centre

2020 2019

Shs Shs Shs Shs Shs

At start of year 71,250,000 27,000,000 240,250,000 338,500,000 334,500,000 

Transfers to property and 
equipment

 - -  -  -  - 

Additions  - -  -  - 3,375,628 

Fair value (loss)/gain  - (2,000,000)  -  (2,000,000)  624,372 

At end of year 71,250,000 25,000,000 240,250,000 336,500,000 338,500,000 

The fair value of investment property was determined by reference to the market prices 
of similar properties ‘of the type and in the area in which the property is situated. The 
valuation was carried out by Paragon ‘property valuers and consultants limited an 
independent professional valuer with recent experience in the ‘location and category of 
the investment property being valued. 

The fair valuation of investment property is considered to represent a level 3 valuation 
based on significant ‘non-observable inputs being the location and condition of the 
property, consistent with prior periods.

Management does not expect there to be a material sensitivity to the fair values arising 
from the ‘non-observable inputs. There were no transfers between level 1, 2 or 3 fair 
values during the year.

The table above presents the changes in the carrying value of the investment property 
arising from these fair ‘valuation assessments.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

12. Intangible assets (software)

2020 2019

Shs Shs 

Cost

At start of year  5,383,066  5,231,066 

Additions  500,000  152,000 

At end of year  5,883,066  5,383,066 

Accumulated amortisation

At start of year  5,383,066  5,215,097 

Amortisation charge  165,000  167,969 

At end of year   5,548,066  5,383,066 

Net book value  335,000  - 

Amortisation of Shs. 165,000 (2019: Shs. 167,969) is included in other operating 
expenses in the statement of comprehensive income. 

2020 2019

13. Other payables Shs Shs 

Sundry payables  4,385,253  16,654,614 

Software (NAV 2016) payable  -  - 

Audit fee  750,000  290,000 

Mpesa deposit account  333,218  495,652 

Legend Valuers  280,000  384,200 

Rent Deposit  2,863,519  976,500 

Honoraria/staff bonus provision  4,765,000  4,455,000 

Withdrawals payable  31,264,680  8,718,071 

ATM, POS & VISA Suspense  372,393  - 

Other payables  2,106,307  3,548,791 

Total other payables  47,120,370  35,522,828 

In the opinion of the directors, the carrying amounts of other payables approximate to 
their fair value.

The average credit period on purchases from suppliers is 30 days. No interest is charged 
on other payables.

The carrying amounts of the society’s other payables are denominated in the Kenya 
Shillngs (Shs.).
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

14. 	 Interest due to members

2020 2019

Shs Shs 

At the start of the year  257,469,717  253,159,732 

Provisions for the year  318,238,304  257,469,717 

Write back of overprovision of interest payable  -  - 

Payments during the year  (257,469,717)  (253,159,732)

At end of year  318,238,304  257,469,717 

The interest payable comprises of interest on members deposits at 9% (2019: 8%) and 
interest on investment savings at 6% (2019: 7%) both payable on a prorata basis.  

The carrying amounts of the society’s interest due is denominated in Kenya Shillngs 
(Shs).

2020 2019

15. a Members’ deposits Shs Shs 

At the start of the year 3,252,635,563 2,944,691,871 

Deposits during the year 631,411,897 558,559,407 

Withdrawals/refunds during the year  (277,703,111)  (250,615,715)

3,606,344,349 3,252,635,563 

Members’ investment savings

At the start of the year 170,204,647 157,667,695 

Deposits during the year 397,219,478 313,898,476 

Withdrawals/refunds during the year  (385,251,318)  (301,361,524)

182,172,807 170,204,647 

Total member savings 3,788,517,156 3,422,840,210 

There are no members holding more than 20% of total members deposits.

The carrying amounts of the society’s members’ deposits are denominated in Kenya 
Shillngs (Shs).

2020 2019

b Members’ deposits Shs Shs 

At the start of the year  -  - 

Deposits during the year 2,167,376,166  - 

Withdrawals/refunds during the year  (2,092,026,808)  - 

75,349,358  - 
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Significant accounting policies (continued) 

16.	 Share capital

2020 2019

Shs Shs 

At start of year 238,211,279 191,678,820 

Contributions for the year 19,080,773 46,532,459 

At end of year 257,292,052 238,211,279 

Comprising of:

Paid up 256,912,000 220,630,160 

Partly paid 380,052 17,581,119 

257,292,052 238,211,279 

Share capital represents equity in the form of issued and fully paid up shares of 
common stock. The minimum share capital is Shs. 30,000.

17. Reserves 

Included in the members balances are the following reserves which are as a 
result of statutory requirements:-

2020 2019

i) Statutory reserve Shs Shs

At start of year 53,769,493 45,279,513 

Transfer from appropriation reserve 14,808,944 8,489,980 

At end of year 68,578,437 53,769,493 

ii) Appropriation reserve

At start of year  114,152,726  105,645,841 

IFRS 9 transition adjustment  -  - 

Interest written back to provisions  -  - 

Fair value gain  624,372 

Honoraria and staff bonus  (4,765,000)  (4,455,000)

Surplus for the year  74,044,718  42,449,900 

Transfer of from revaluation reserve  -  - 

Transfer to statutory reserve  (14,808,944)  (8,489,980)

Tax adjustment  -  - 

Proposed dividend retained  20,540,617  (21,622,407)

At end of year  189,164,117  114,152,726 
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Significant accounting policies (continued) 
17. Reserves (continued) 

2020 2019

Shs Shs

iii) RMF reserve fund

At start and end of year 67,204,946 67,204,946 

(iv) Revaluation reserve

At start of year 2,154,487 2,538,687 

Surplus on revaluation of property and 
equipment

 (280,000)  (384,200)

Transfer of excess depreciation  -  - 

At start and end of year 1,874,487 2,154,487 

(v) Fair value reserve

At start of year 33,364,025 30,176,653 

Fair value (loss)/gain on income from other 
financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income

 -  3,187,372 

At end of year 33,364,025 33,364,025 

(vi) Dividend account

The total proposed dividend for the year is 0% of investment shares (2019: 
10%) amounting to a total of Shs.  (2019: Shs. 21,622,407).

2020 2019

Shs Shs

At start of year 21,622,407 21,334,897 

Paid during the year  -  (21,334,897)

Proposed dividend readjusted to reserves  (21,622,407)  - 

Proposed during the year  - 21,622,407 

At end of year  - 21,622,407 
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Significant accounting policies (continued) 

18.	Related party transactions 

 

2020 2019

Shs Shs

(i) Outstanding balances arising related party transactions

Receivable from UIC (Note 7) 44,954,080 44,954,080 

This represents a loan which was advanced to Ushuru Investment Co-operative (UIC) 
to advance the uinterest of the Society members in acquisition and development of 
plots of land. The Society has put in place a repayment plan commencing in the year 
2021.

2020 2019

(ii) Key management personnel remuneration Shs Shs

Short term employee benefits 32,448,800 29,752,638 

Post employment benefits 2,589,120 2,240,863 

35,037,920 31,993,501 

(iii) Insider loans 

Directors Staff  Total

Insider Loans movement Kshs Kshs Kshs

At the start of year (1st January) 18,045,985 31,253,634 49,299,619 

Granted during the year 18,848,000 30,392,425 49,240,425 

Repayments
 (16,948,566)  (16,948,566)  (33,897,132)

At the end of the year (31st December)
19,945,419 44,697,493 64,642,912 

(iv) Expenditure to the Board 

2020 2019

Shs Shs

Provision for Honoraria 2,800,000 2,605,000 

Board training 15,000 4,317,272 

Board sitting allowances 5,492,925 5,805,650 

Board travel and other expenses 3,498,600 5,630,310 

Board insurance 266,574 410,252 

12,073,099 18,768,484 

19. Commitments

Contractual commitments for the acquisition of investment properties

At the reporting date these commitments were as 
follows:

2020 2019

Shs Shs 

Investment properties  -  - 
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Significant accounting policies (continued) 

20.	Risk management objectives and policies

Financial risk management

The society’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including 
interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The society’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability 
of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the society’s 
financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by the board of directors and focuses on overall risk 
management, as well specific areas, such as liquidity risk,interest rate risk, credit risk, and 
investment of excess liquidity.

(a)	Market risk

-	 Interest rate risk

The society’s exposure to interest rate risk arises from loans and advances and members’ 
deposits.

Financial assets and liabilities advanced and obtained at different rates expose the 
society to interest rate risk. Financial assets and liabilities obtained at fixed rates expose 
the society to fair value interest rate risk, except where the instruments are carried at 
amortised costs. 

The table below summarises the effect on post-tax surplus had interest rates been 1 
percentage point higher, with all other variables held constant. If the interest rates were 
lower by 1 percentage point, the effect would have been the opposite. 

2020 2019

Shs Shs

Effect on surplus - arising from loans and advance - increase 26,207,091 24,517,832 

Effect on surplus - arising from members balances -

(decrease)  (21,215,887)  (17,164,648)

(b)	Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of suffering financial loss, should any of the society’s member fail to 
fulfil their contractual obligations to the society. Credit risk arises mainly from member’s 
loans and advances.

The members loans and advances are mostly secured by guarantees of other members 
and members’ deposits.

Credit risk is the single largest risk for the society’s business; the directors therefore 
carefully manage the exposure to credit risk. The credit risk management and control are 
centralised in a credit risk commitee, which reports to the board of directors.

i) 	 Credit risk measurement

The society takes on exposure to credit risk which is the risk of financial loss to the 
society if a member or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 
obligations, and arises principally from the society’s loans and advances to members.
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20.	Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Exposure to credit risk is managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers 
and potential borrowers to meet interest and capital repayment obligations and by 
changing lending limits where appropriate. Exposure to credit risk is also managed by 
obtaining guarantees from members. Credit risk in the society, is also managed through 
a framework of policies and procedures. Origination and approval roles are segregated 
with different levels of the credit committee having authorities to approve loans upto a 
certain amount based on their position in the organization hierarchy.

The society’s credit committee is responsible for managing the society’s credit risk by; 

- 	Ensuring that the society has appropriate credit risk practices, including an effective system 
of internal control, to consistently determine adequate allowances in accordance with 
the society’s  stated policies and procedures, IFRSs and relevant supervisory guidance. 

- 	Identifying, assessing and measuring credit risk across the society, from an individual 
instrument to a portfolio level.

- 	Creating credit policies to protect the society against the identified risks including the 
requirements to obtain collateral from borrowers, to perform robust ongoing credit 
assessment of borrowers and to continually monitor exposure against internal risk 
limit.

- 	Establishing a robust control framework regarding the authorisation structure for the 
approval and renewal of credit facilities.

- 	Developing and maintaining the society’s risk grading to categories exposure 
according to the degree of risk of default. Risk grades are subject to regular reviews.

- 	Developing and maintaining the society’s risk processes for measuring Expected Credit 
Loss including monitoring of credit risk, incorporating forward looking information 
and the method used to measure ECL.

- 	Ensuring the society has policies and procedures in place to appropriately maintain 
and validate models used to assess and measure ECL.

- 	Establishing a sound credit risk accounting assessment and measurement process 
that provides it with a strong basis for common systems, tools and data to assess 
credit risk to account for ECL. Providing advice, guidance and special skills business 
units to promote best practice in the management of credit risk.

The internal audit function performs regular audit to make sure that the established 
controls and procedures are adequately designed and implemented.

Significant increase in credit risk 

The society monitors all financial assets that are subject to impairment requirements to 
assess whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. 
If there has been an increase in significant risk the society will measure the loss allowance 
based on the lifetime rather that 12 - months ECL.



USHURU SAVINGS AND CREDIT CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY LIMITED

Annual Report and Financial Statement for The Year Ended 31st December 2020 63

Significant accounting policies (continued) 

20.	Risk management objectives and policies (continued) 

Internal credit risk rating 
The society takes on exposure to credit risk which is the risk of financial loss to the 
society if a member or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 
obligations.

Exposure to credit risk is managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and 
potential borrowers to meet interest and capital repayment obligations and by changing 
lending limits where appropriate. Exposure to credit risk is also managed in part by 
obtaining collateral against loans and advances in the form of registered securities over 
assets and guarantees from members. Credit risk in the society, is also managed through 
a framework of policies and procedures. Origination and approval roles are segregated. 
To aid credit managers in portfolio management, regular internal risk management 
reports contain information on key environmental and economic trends across 
major portfolios, portfolio delinquency and loan impairment performance as well as 
information on migration across credit grades and other trends. Expected loss is the 
long-run average credit loss across a range of typical economic conditions. It is used in 
the delegation of credit approval authority and must be calculated for every transaction 
to determine the appropriate level of approval.

Incorporation of forward‑looking information

The society uses forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or 
effort in its assessment of significant increase of credit risk as well as in its measurement 
of ECL. The society’s employs experts who use external and internal information to 
generate a ‘base case’ scenario of future forecast of relevant economic variables along 
with a representative range of other possible forecast scenarios. The external information 
used includes economic data and forecasts published by governmental bodies and 
monetary authorities.

The society applies probabilities to the forecast scenarios identified. The base case 
scenario is the single most-likely outcome and consists of information used by the society 
for strategic planning and budgeting. The society has identified and documented key 
drivers of credit risk and credit losses for each portfolio of financial instruments and, 
using a statistical analysis of historical data, has estimated relationships between macro-
economic variables and credit risk and  credit losses. The society has not made changes 
in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the reporting 
period.

The principal macroeconomic indicators included in the economic scenarios used at 31 
December 2019 for Kenya are as follows:

- GDP Growth

- Unemployment rates

- Interest rates

- Inflation

Predicted relationships between the key indicators and default and loss rates on various 
portfolios of financial assets have been developed based on analysing historical data 
over the portfolios of financial assets have been developed based on analysing historical 
data over the past 3 years. The society has correlation between the macroeconomic 
factors and the experienced credit losses. Therefore these factors do not have a material 
impact on the ECL.
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20.	Risk management objectives and policies (continued) 

Measurement of ECL

The key inputs used for measuring ECL are:

• 	 probability of default (PD);

• 	 loss given default (LGD); and

• 	 exposure at default (EAD).

As explained above these figures are generally derived from internally developed 
statistical models and other historical data and they are adjusted to reflect probability-
weighted forward-looking information where it may have a material impact on the ECL.

PD is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon. It is estimated 
as at a point in time. The calculation is based on statistical rating models, and assessed 
using rating tools tailored to the various categories of counterparties and exposures. 
These statistical models are based on market data (where available), as well as internal 
data comprising both quantitative and qualitative factors. PDs are estimated considering 
thecontractual maturities of exposures and estimated prepayment rates. The estimation 
is based on current conditions, adjusted to take into account estimates of future 
conditions that will impact PD.

LGD is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between 
the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, 
taking into account cash flows from any collateral. The LGD models for secured assets 
consider forecasts of future collateral valuation taking into account sale discounts, 
time to realisation of collateral, cross-collateralisation and seniority of claim, cost of 
realisation of collateral and cure rates (i.e. exit from non-performing status). LGD models 
for unsecured assets consider time of recovery, recovery rates and the calculation is on 
a discounted cash flow basis, where the cash flows are discounted by the original EIR 
of the loan.

EAD is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into account 
expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of 
principal and interest, and expected drawdowns on committed facilities. The society’s 
modelling approach for EAD reflects expected changes in the balance outstanding over 
the lifetime of the loan exposure that are permitted by the current contractual terms, 
such as amortisation profiles, early repayment or overpayment, changes in utilisation of 
undrawn commitments and credit mitigation actions taken before default. The society 
uses EAD models that reflect the characteristics of the portfolios.

The society measures ECL considering the risk of default over the maximum contractual 
period (including extension options) over which the entity is exposed to credit risk and 
not a longer period, even if contract extension or renewal is common business practice. 
However, for financial instruments such as revolving credit facilities and overdraft 
facilities that include both a loan and an undrawn commitment component, the societys 
contractual ability to demand repayment and cancel the undrawn commitment does 
not limit the societys exposure to credit losses to the contractual notice period. For 
such financial instruments the society measures ECL over the period that it is exposed 
to credit risk and ECL would not be mitigated by credit risk management actions, even 
if that period extends beyond the maximum contractual period.
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20.	Risk management objectives and policies (continued) 

These financial instruments do not have a fixed term or repayment structure and 
have a short contractual cancellation period. However, the society does not enforce 
in the normal day-to-day management the contractual right to cancel these financial 
instruments. This is because these financial instruments are managed on a collective 
basis and  are canceled only when the society becomes aware of an increase in credit 
risk at the facility level. This longer period is estimated taking into account the credit risk 
management actions that the society expects to take to mitigate ECL, e.g. reduction in 
limits or cancellation of the loan commitment.

The ECL calculation for accounting purposes is different to the provisions calculation for 
regulatory purposes. The society has ensured that the appropriate methodology is used 
when calculating ECL for both accounting purposes. The main differences between the 
methodologies used to measure ECL in accordance with IFRS 9 versus the ones applied 
for regulatory purposes are as disclosed on Note 8 of the financial statements. Any 
excess in regulatory provisions over IFRS 9 ECLs are accounted for as an appropriation 
from retained earnings into a loan loss reserve.

Groupings based on shared risks characteristics

When ECL are measured on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped on 
the basis of shared

risk characteristics, such  as:

- 	 instrument type;

- 	 credit risk grade;

- 	 collateral type;

- 	 remaining term to maturity;

- 	 industry/economic sector; and

-  	 geographic location of the borrower.

The groupings are reviewed on a regular basis to ensure that each group is comprised 
of homogenous exposures.

Collateral held as security 

The society holds collateral against all loans and advances to members in the form of 
cash, fixed assets such motor vehicle and other members guarantees. The society has 
developed specific policies and guidelines for the acceptance of different classes of 
collateral.

Estimates of the collateral’s fair values are based on the value of collateral independently 
and professionally assessed at the time of borrowing, and re-valued with a frequency 
commensurate with nature and type of the collateral and credit advanced. Collateral 
structures and covenants are subjected to regular review to ensure they continue to 
fulfill the intended purpose. Collateral is generally not held in respect of deposits and 
balances due from banking institutions, items in the course of collection and Government 
securities.
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(c)	Liquidity risk

Cash flow forecasting is performed by the finance department monthly by monitoring 
the society’s liquidity requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational 
needs while maintaining sufficient headroom on its undrawn committed facilities at all 
times so that the society does not breach limits on any of its facilities.

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable 
securities, the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit 
facilities and the ability to close out market positions. Due to the dynamic nature of 
the underlying businesses, the society’s management maintains flexibility in funding by 
maintaining availability under committed credit lines.

The table below analyses assets and liabilities into the relevant maturity groupings based 
on the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date.

Current 1 to 5

to 1 year years Total

Year ended 31 December 2020 Shs Shs Shs

- Member savings 182,172,807 3,606,344,349 3,788,517,156 

- Other payables 47,120,370 - 47,120,370 

- Interest due to members 318,238,304 - 318,238,304 

547,531,481 - 4,153,875,830 

Current 1 to 5

to 1 year years Total

Year ended 31 December 2019 Shs Shs Shs

- Member savings 170,204,647 3,252,635,563 3,422,840,210 

- Other payables 35,522,828 - 35,522,828 

- Interest due to members 257,469,717 - 257,469,717 

463,197,192 - 3,715,832,755 
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21. Risk management fund 

Statement of income and expenditure 2020 2019

Shs Shs

Income

Members contributions during the year 22,281,158 24,057,599 

Premiums on loans issued 13,199,484 9,171,070 

Total income 35,480,642 33,228,669 

Other income

Interest earned 6,140,227 5,383,256 

Other income  - 1,152,600 

Total other income 6,140,227 6,535,856 

Total income 41,620,869 39,764,525 

Expenses

Members refund and loan offset 7,022,869 5,359,081 

Loans written off  - 1,152,600 

Funeral expenses paid 520,000 340,000 

Committee expenses 650,000 540,000 

Insurance premium 16,263,441 15,651,747 

Bank charges  - -

Total claims 24,456,310 23,043,428 

Net surplus for the year 17,164,559 16,721,097 

Risk management fund is a source of fund contributed by the members for insurance 
of loans. 

This fund is reinsured by the CIC by paying a premium to cover all the loans in case of 
death  or permanent disability of a member.

The net surplus on this fund after deducting all the directly related expenses is recognized 
as other income on the society’s accounts.

22.	Capital management

Internally imposed capital requirements

The society manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going 
concern while maximising the return to members through the optimisation of the debt 
and equity balance. 

The capital structure of the society consists of net debt calculated as member’s deposit 
(as shown in the statement of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents and 
equity (comprising share capital, reserves and dividend account). The directors reviews 
the capital structure on a monthly basis. As part of this review, the directors considers 
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.

The society  acquired a licence from Sacco Societies Regulatory Authority (SASRA) 
effective January 2020.
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23.	GOVERNANCE EXPENSES 

2020 2019 

 Shs  Shs 

ADM expenses  2,628,160  3,867,160 

Delegates education  248,500  3,049,000 

Members education  -  2,793,015 

Board and branch officials training  15,000  4,317,272 

Board sitting allowances  5,492,925  5,805,650 

Board travel and other expenses  3,498,600  5,630,310 

Branch meeting expenses  1,215,954  1,619,190 

Board insurance  266,574  410,252 

Deposit Levy-Sasra  4,653,539  - 

Ushirika day celebrations  30,000  785,700 

Total governance expenses  18,049,252  28,277,549 

24. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 2020 2019 

Employment:  Shs  Shs 

Salaries and wages  34,146,560  32,481,938 

Staff medical  3,419,288  3,096,501 

Staff GPA insurance  102,134  101,319 

National Social Security Fund  62,000  53,800 

Provident fund  2,315,225  2,237,863 

Staff education  372,641  2,981,293 

Total employment costs  40,417,848  40,952,714 

Other administrative expenses:

Travel and subsistence  2,888,710  1,804,420 

Printing and stationery  2,457,882  1,533,442 

Cash in transit expenses  337,360  313,515 

Audit fees  750,000  725,000 

Supervision and filing fee  75,200  72,700 

VAT charge non recoverable  120,000  116,000 

Strategic plan and consultancy expenses  691,600  1,328,920 

Legal fees  192,000  - 

Bank charges  831,419  1,001,285 

Systems audit  -  694,830 

Dividend computation expenses  -  25,000 
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24.	ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES (continued)

2020 2019 

 Shs  Shs 

Social responsibility  -  178,750 

Subscription and donations  170,000  331,625 

Entertainment  857,875  1,114,853 

Telephone and postage and airtime  1,108,391  1,103,076 

Marketing, publicity and advertisement  2,081,378  4,255,852 

Motor vehicle expenses  437,471  639,128 

Recruitment commission  -  19,300 

Computer expenses  2,502,170  1,170,779 

Covid-19 Related Expenses  477,588  - 

Sundry expenses  1,120,885  816,941 

Cleaning expenses  2,087,997  2,163,713 

Total other administrative expenses  19,187,926  19,409,129 

Total administrative expenses  59,605,774  60,361,843 

25. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 2020 2019

 Shs Shs

Establishment:

Depreciation on property and equipment  4,180,828  3,124,842 

Amortisation of intangible assets  165,000  167,969 

Loss on disposal of assets held-for-sale  -  - 

Rates and rent  124,666  295,542 

Security expenses  2,978,974  2,847,300 

Water, fuel and electricity  1,249,910  1,380,004 

Repair and maintenance  2,542,041  500,835 

Total other operating expenses  11,241,419  8,316,492 

26 Honoraria and staff bonus 2020 2019 

 Shs  Shs 

Honoraria  2,800,000  2,605,000 

Staff bonus  1,965,000  1,850,000 

 4,765,000  4,455,000 
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27 	Deferred tax

Defered tax relates to the temporary differences arising from revaluation surplus on 
property and equipment and fair values changes in investment in shares held with Co-
opholding Co-operative Society Limited, Co-operative Insurance Society Limited and 
KUSCCO Limited. No provision has been made as the amount is not material.

28 	Incorporation

Ushuru Savings and Credit Co-operative Society Limited is registered in Kenya under the 
Cooperative Societies Act, (Cap. 490) and is domiciled in Kenya.

29 	Presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in Kenya Shillings (Shs.)


